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DECISION

The Missouri Board of Pharmacy (“the Board”) shall place Charles T. Haynes on its employee disqualification list (“EDL”) for pharmacy technicians for a period of two years.  
Procedure


On April 13, 2007, Haynes filed his complaint appealing the decision of the Board to place him on the EDL.  The Board answered.  We held our hearing on December 21, 2007.  Haynes represented himself.  Assistant Attorney General Joi N. Cunningham represented the Board.  
Findings of Fact


1.
The Board issued a pharmacy technician registration license to Haynes.  It was current at all relevant times.  His registration expires on May 31, 2008.  

2.
Nutritional Support Systems d/b/a Network Healthcare Pharmacy employed Haynes as a pharmacy technician from January 19, 2005, until October 11, 2006.

3.
Section 1 of Nutritional Support Systems’ employee manual provides:

NSS, LP does not permit the employment of persons who use . . . illegal or controlled substances except for the following:

*   *   *

2.  Controlled substances provided to a partner [an employee] by or under the authority of a licensed medical practitioner treating the partner.

The off-duty use of controlled substances, except over-the-counter medications and prescribed drugs by a physician or dentist, is prohibited if the off-duty use results in the presence or evidence of the substance(s) in a partner’s body when on duty.


4.
Haynes had read the above-quoted policy before September 20, 2006.

5.
When the pharmacist-in-charge (“PIC”) at Network Healthcare Pharmacy thought that there was oxycodone missing from the pharmacy, each of the pharmacy’s employees, including Haynes, was required to give a urine specimen for a drug screen.  While the drug screens were in progress, the PIC discovered that a counting error made it appear that oxycodone was missing.

6.
Haynes gave his urine specimen on September 20, 2006.  His specimen was found to be “non-negative.”  The substance found was phenobarbital.

7.
Phenobarbital is a long-lasting barbiturate, which is classified as a Schedule IV controlled substance.


8.
On October 4, 2006, the medical review officer involved in the drug screening process asked Haynes about the presence of phenobarbital in his urine.  Haynes informed the medical review officer that some time before the drug screen he had taken Donnatal from an “old prescription.”

9.
Donnatal is a legend drug used to treat intestinal disorders.  Phenobarbital is one of Donnatal’s active ingredients.

10.
Haynes did not produce a prescription for the Donnatal or locate the prescribing physician for the medical review officer or for the PIC.

11.
Network Healthcare Pharmacy fired Haynes on October 11, 2006, for violating its policy on drugs and alcohol.

12.
In December 2006, an investigator for the Board interviewed Haynes regarding his firing.  Haynes said that he did not have a prescription for the Donnatal, but had obtained samples of the drug from his physician.  The investigator told Haynes that Haynes needed a statement from his physician that he had provided Donnatal to Haynes.  Haynes said he was doubtful that he could obtain one because he was having trouble finding the physician.  Haynes never did produce the physician’s statement.


13.
By letter dated March 15, 2007, the Board notified Haynes of its determination that he was terminated by his employer for testing positive in a random drug screen for Phenobarbital for which he could not produce a valid prescription.  The letter informed Haynes that the Board decided at its February 2007 meeting to place his name on the EDL for five years and that this would result in Haynes' not being able to be employed in a pharmacy as a technician.  
Conclusions of Law

I.  Jurisdiction and Burden of Proof
We have jurisdiction to hear Haynes’ complaint.
  Placement on the EDL bars all employment in a hospital or licensed pharmacy:

No hospital or licensed pharmacy shall knowingly employ any person whose name appears on the employee disqualification list[.]

Because placement on the EDL takes away a person’s ability to work for a hospital or pharmacy, even in unregistered capacities, it constitutes a state action to change the status quo.  Therefore, we conclude that the burden of proof is on the Board.
  Because Haynes appeals the Board’s notice, the Board sets forth the grounds for EDL placement in its answer.
  
II.  Evidentiary Issue:  Respondent’s Exhibit 3

When the Board offered the certified toxicology records from Clinical Reference Laboratory in Respondent's Exhibit 3 (“laboratory records”), Haynes objected.  Relying on a decision by the Appeals Tribunal of the Missouri Division of Employment Security, Haynes objected that the chain of custody documentation does not indicate that the laboratory received Haynes’ urine sample with the container seal intact and that the laboratory report does not contain the medical review officer’s certification.
  

Haynes relies upon the United State Department of Transportation’s (“DOT”) chain of custody regulations at 49 CFR Part 40, as made applicable to employment security proceedings by § 288.045.6, which provides:
  

All specimen collection for drugs and alcohol under this chapter shall be performed in accordance with the procedures provided for by the United States Department of Transportation rules for workplace drug and alcohol testing compiled at 49 C.F.R., Part 40.  Any employer that performs drug testing or specimen collection shall use chain-of-custody procedures established by regulations of the United States Department of Transportation. "Specimen" means tissue, fluid, or a product of the human body capable of revealing the presence of alcohol or drugs or their metabolites. "Chain of custody" refers to the methodology of 
tracking specified materials or substances for the purpose of maintaining control and accountability from initial collection to final disposition for all such materials or substances, and providing for accountability at each stage in handling, testing, and storing specimens and reporting test results.
Chapter 288 is known as the “Missouri Employment Security Law.”
 Its provisions govern  the Division of Employment Security’s interpretation of the provisions of Chapter 288, including the chain of custody provisions in § 288.045.6.  

However, Chapter 621 governs our proceedings.  Section 621.052.2
 requires that the provisions of Chapter 536 control the procedures we use to process our hearings and determinations.  Section 536.070(10)
 provides for the admissibility of business records, such as the chain of custody documentation for Haynes' urine specimen.  Section 536.070(10) provides:

 Any writing or record, whether in the form of an entry in a book or otherwise, made as a memorandum or record of an act, transaction, occurrence or event, shall be admissible as evidence of the act, transaction, occurrence or event, if it shall appear that it was made in the regular course of any business, and that it was the regular course of such business to make such memorandum or record at the time of such act, transaction, occurrence, or event or within a reasonable time thereafter.  All other circumstances of the making of such writing or record, including lack of personal knowledge by the entrant or maker, may be shown to affect the weight of such evidence, but such showing shall not affect its admissibility.  The term "business" shall include business, profession, occupation and calling of every kind.
Further, even in court proceedings, “[w]hile the law does not require proof of every hand-to-hand transfer of evidence, the chain of custody must be sufficiently traced so that there is reasonable assurance that the item offered has not been substituted for the original item that was seized, or that the substance has not been contaminated or tampered with.”


The affidavit certifying the laboratory records states that the records: 
are kept by said Clinical Reference Laboratory in the regular course of business, and it was within the regular course of business of said Clinical Reference Laboratory for an employee or representative of said Clinical Reference Laboratory with knowledge of the act, event, condition or result recorded to make the record or to transmit information thereof to be included in such record; and the record was made at or near the time of the act, event, condition or result.[
]  
This certification satisfies the admissibility requirements of § 536.070(10).  We have the discretion to give the laboratory records whatever weight we think they are worth given all the circumstances.
  

The chain of custody documentation and the test results in the laboratory records are credible.  The laboratory records identify when and where Haynes gave his specimen and to whom.  The “non-federal drug testing form” contains the signatures of Haynes and the person who collected the sample and the name of the courier who transported it to the laboratory.  The form also contains the name and initials of the person receiving the specimen at the laboratory next to the box marked “YES” indicating “Primary Specimen Container Seal Intact.”
  Further chain of custody documentation is provided at pages 2-6 of the laboratory records.  Another circumstance showing the reliability of the test result is that Haynes corroborates the laboratory’s finding of phenobarbital by his admission that before he gave his specimen he was taking a medicine that contained phenobarbital.   


Even if we applied DOT’s chain of custody requirements to the laboratory records, they would be admissible.  As indicated, the laboratory’s records contradict the Appeals Tribunals finding that there was no documentation that the specimen’s seal was intact upon arrival at the 
laboratory.  As for whether the medical review officer’s certification should appear on the laboratory report, we find no such requirement in DOT’s regulations at 49 CFR § 40.97(b)(1)(i) and (ii), as incorporated for non-negative tests in § 40.97(b)(2).  Respondent’s Exhibit 3 is admissible, and the reported results are credible.

III.  The Merits


Section 338.013 provides:

7.  The board may place on the employment disqualification list the name of a pharmacy technician who . . . has violated any provision of subsection 2 of section 338.055.
*   *   *


9.  The length of time a person’s name shall remain on the disqualification list shall be determined by the board.
The Board asserts that Haynes violated § 338.055.2(1), (6), (15), and (17) when he unlawfully used and possessed a controlled substance.    

A.  Impairment from Use of Controlled Substance

Section 338.055.2(1) authorizes discipline for:

[u]se of any controlled substance, as defined in chapter 195, RSMo, or alcoholic beverage to an extent that such use impairs a person's ability to perform the work of any profession licensed or regulated by this chapter[.]
The Board failed to prove that Haynes violated § 338.055.2(1) because the Board offered no evidence that Haynes’ ability to do his job was impaired.  Therefore, we find no basis on which to place Haynes on the EDL for violating § 338.055.2(1).

B.  Violation of statutes or regulations

Section 338.055.2(6) authorizes discipline for:

[v]iolation of, or assisting or enabling any person to violate, any provision of this chapter, or of any lawful rule or regulation adopted pursuant to this chapter[.]

Neither in its answer nor at the hearing nor in its post-hearing argument does the Board identify what provision of Chapter 338 or of the Board's regulations that Haynes violated.  The Board must specifically identify such provisions in its answer.
  We cannot find discipline for uncharged conduct.
  Therefore, we find no basis on which to place Haynes on the EDL for violating § 338.055.2(6).
C.  Illegal Possession of a Controlled Substance

Section 338.055.2 authorizes discipline for:


(15) Violation of the drug laws or rules and regulations of this state, any other state or the federal government; 

*   *   *


(17) Personal use or consumption of any controlled substance unless it is prescribed, dispensed, or administered by a health care provider who is authorized by law to do so.
The Board contends that Haynes’ use and possession of phenobarbital without a prescription or without being dispensed by an authorized physician violated § 195.060 and §§ 195.180 and 195.202
 because phenobarbital is a Schedule IV controlled substance.


Section 195.060 does not apply to pharmacy technicians.  It contains five subsections that provide requirements regarding controlled substances for pharmacists, for owners of controlled substances in pharmacies, for those who promote and advertise controlled substances for use or sale, and for the delivery of narcotics or hallucinogenic drugs to ultimate users or agents.  The Board has not shown that Haynes has violated § 338.055.2(15) by way of § 195.060. 


Section 195.202
 provides:


1.  Except as authorized by sections 195.005 to 195.425, it is unlawful for any person to possess or have under his control a controlled substance.
Section 195.180
 provides:

1.  A person may lawfully possess or have under his control a controlled substance if such person obtained the controlled substance directly from, or pursuant to, a valid prescription or order of a practitioner while acting in the course of a practitioner's professional practice or except as otherwise authorized by sections 195.005 to 195.425.

The Board contends that a presumption of unlawful possession arises from the phenobarbital that was found in Haynes’ urine.  Section 620.151 provides:

For the purpose of determining whether cause for discipline or denial exists under the statutes of any board, commission or committee within the division of professional registration, any licensee, registrant, permittee or applicant that test[s] positive for a controlled substance, as defined in chapter 195, RSMo, is presumed to have unlawfully possessed the controlled substance in violation of the drug laws or rules and regulations of this state, any other state or the federal government unless he or she has a valid prescription for the controlled substance.  The burden of proof that the controlled substance was not unlawfully possessed in violation of the drug laws or rules and regulations of this state, any other state or the federal government is upon the licensee, registrant, permittee or applicant.
Haynes claimed that he possessed and consumed the phenobarbital through his possession and consumption of Donnatal.  The issue is whether his possession was lawful.  A controlled substance is a drug listed in Schedules I through V in Chapter 195.
  Section 195.017.8(2) provides that Schedule IV controlled substances include:

[a]ny material, compound, mixture or preparation containing any quantity of the following substances, including their salts, isomers, and salts of isomers whenever the existence of those salts, isomers, 
and salts of isomers is possible within the specific chemical designation:
*   *   *
(pp) Phenobarbital[.]

Haynes never produced a prescription for the Donnatal.  Instead, he claimed lawful possession by way of his physician having dispensed it to him from the physician’s stock.  Haynes claimed that his physician was Leslie Bond, who used to practice from an office on Kingshighway in St. Louis.  Haynes testified that he and his attorney tried in vain to find Bond and his patient records.  All they could find out about the doctor was that he had retired.  Haynes offered no evidence to corroborate his assertions about the doctor.  

Haynes failed to meet his burden under § 620.151 to show the lawfulness of his possession of a drug with phenobarbital in it.  Haynes’ unlawful use and possession of a drug with phenobarbital in it violated §§ 195.180.1 and 195.202.1
 and thereby violated § 338.055.2(15) and (17).  These violations of § 338.055.2 provide a basis for placing Haynes on the EDL.  
D.  Failure Regarding Professional Functions and Duties 

The Board contends Haynes violated § 338.055.2(5), which authorizes discipline for:

[i]ncompetence, misconduct, gross negligence, fraud, misrepresentation or dishonesty in the performance of the functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated by this chapter[.]
When interpreting an identical statute relating to physicians, the Court of Appeals held:
    

The ordinary meaning of “function” applicable here is:  “1:  professional or official position:  OCCUPATION, 2:  the action for which a person or thing is specially fitted or used or for which a thing exists.”  The shared meaning elements of synonyms of 
“function” is “the acts or operations expected of a person or thing.”  Webster’s New Collegiate Dictionary, 465 (1977).  The ordinary meaning of “duty” applicable here is:  “2a:  obligatory tasks, conduct, service, or functions that arise from one’s position (as in life or in a group).  3a:  a moral or legal obligation.”  Webster’s New Collegiate Dictionary, 355 (1977).  

1.  Incompetence

Incompetence is a general lack of professional ability, or a lack of disposition to use an otherwise sufficient professional ability, to perform in an occupation.
  The Board contends that Haynes’ unlawful possession of a controlled substance showed a general lack to use his professional knowledge and abilities regarding controlled substances and the legal prerequisites to possess and consume them in Missouri.  The Board offered no evidence to show what the functions or duties of a pharmacy technician are, either by way of testimony or by asking us to take notice of any laws setting forth such functions or duties.  Haynes’ employer’s policy on drugs and alcohol are in evidence, but they apply to all employees and not specifically to pharmacy technicians or to professionally licensed employees.  Any failure to obey this policy is a failure as an employee.  There is no evidence to show how a violation of this policy relates to those functions or duties that are specific to the professional knowledge and expertise of a pharmacy technician.  The Board has failed to prove any violation of § 338.055.2(5) by incompetence. 
2.  Misconduct or Gross Negligence

“Misconduct” is the commission of wrongful behavior, intending the result that actually comes to pass or being indifferent to the natural consequences.
  Gross negligence is a deviation from the standard of care so egregious as to demonstrate a conscious indifference to a 
professional duty.
  We may infer the requisite mental state from the conduct of the licensee “in light of all surrounding circumstances.”
  The mental states for misconduct and gross negligence – intent and indifference, respectively – are mutually exclusive.  

Once again, without evidence of what a pharmacy technician’s functions and duties are, we cannot find misconduct or gross negligence regarding them.  Further, there was no evidence that Haynes took any drug containing Phenobarbital while on duty or that the existence of Phenobarbital in his body impaired the performance of his functions and duties.  Also, there is no evidence as to Haynes’ mental state at the time he possessed and consumed Phenobarbital.  Without such evidence, we cannot determine whether his possession and use was consistent with the mental state required to find misconduct or gross negligence or whether Haynes was merely negligent, which is not included within § 338.055.2(5).  The Board has failed to prove misconduct or gross negligence.
3.  Fraud, Misrepresentation, or Dishonesty


Fraud is an intentional perversion of truth to induce another to act in reliance upon it.
  A misrepresentation is a falsehood or untruth made with the intent of deceit rather than inadvertent mistake.
  Dishonesty is a lack of integrity, a disposition to defraud or deceive.
    

The Board alleges no facts in its answer and offered nothing at the hearing about any fraud, misrepresentation, or dishonesty.  Therefore, we find none.

4.  Summary


The Board failed to prove any basis under § 338.055.2(5) for placing Haynes on the EDL.  
E.  Violation of Professional Trust or Confidence

Section 338.055.2(13) authorizes discipline for the “[v]iolation of any professional trust or confidence[.]”  Professional trust is the reliance on the special knowledge and skills that professional licensure evidences.
  It may exist, not only between the professional and his clients, but also between the professional and his employer and colleagues.


As with “functions or duties” under § 338.055.2(5), the Board offered no evidence of what “special knowledge and skills” that a pharmacy technician has that others would be relying on, no evidence that the phenobarbital interfered with Haynes’ employment, and no evidence as to when or under what circumstances Haynes took the phenobarbital.  There was only Haynes’ testimony that he took phenobarbital as part of the Donnatal he used for stomach problems.  Without evidence, we have no basis to find what professional trust or confidence Haynes violated and how he violated it.  The Board failed to establish a basis under § 338.055.2(13) for placing Haynes on the EDL.
IV.  Length of Time on EDL


Section 338.013.7 and .9 grant the Board the discretion on whether to place a pharmacy technician on the EDL and the length of time that the pharmacy technician remains there.  Upon the pharmacy technician’s appeal to us, we exercise the Board's discretion.
  While we decided that Haynes belongs on the EDL, there was no evidence that Haynes allowed the phenobarbital to affect his performance or that its presence in his system was the result of any addiction or regular practice of taking drugs illegally.  Accordingly, we place Haynes on the EDL for two years, rather than the five years that the Board determined.      
Summary


Haynes’ possession of phenobarbital violated the drug laws of this state because he possessed it without a prescription and without an authorized health care provider having dispensed it to him.  This conduct is cause to place Haynes on the EDL under § 338.055.2(15) and (17).  

We place Haynes on the EDL for two years.

SO ORDERED on May 14, 2008.
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